# $\mathbf{FILED}$

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 28 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

AILEEN CAROL WUORNOS,	)		
Appellant,	<u> </u>		
vs.	) CASE	NUMBER	79,484
STATE OF FLORIDA,	Ś		
Appellee.	) )		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### **AMENDED**

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0353973

112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 9, 1991, police arrested Aileen Carol Wuornos<sup>1</sup>, the Appellant, on an active warrant charging her with carrying a concealed firearm. (R4028-29) On January 28, 1991, the Volusia County, fall term, grand jury indicted Wuornos for the first-degree murder<sup>2</sup> and armed robbery<sup>3</sup> of Richard Mallory. (R5018-19) Wuornos was also charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.<sup>4</sup> On February 1, 1991, Appellant filed her notice of intent to participate in discovery. (R4048) On February 8, 1991, Appellant requested the criminal history of the victim, Richard Mallory. (R4065)

Due to the pervasive pretrial publicity, Appellant sought a change of venue which the trial court ultimately denied. (R4425-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this brief, counsel will use Appellant, Wuornos, and Lee (her nickname) interchangeably.

<sup>2 § 782.04(1)(</sup>a)1 and/or 2, Fla. Stat

<sup>§§ 812.13(1)</sup> and (2)(a); 775.087(2)(a), Fla. Stat.

<sup>§ 790.23,</sup> Fla. Stat.

4513) The trial court also denied Appellant's motion to seal her videotaped statement to law enforcement. (R4324-29)

On August 5, 1991, the State filed notice of its intent to use similar fact evidence.<sup>5</sup> (R4142-47,4393-95) On January 3, 1992, Appellant moved in limine to exclude any and all purported "similar fact evidence." (R4416-24) During the trial, the court overruled numerous objections, and the State presented a plethora of "similar fact evidence." (R1138-85)

Appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of various aspects of Florida's capital sentencing scheme. (R4176-79,4180-83,4188-99,4200-23) Following a hearing on August 19, 1991, the trial court denied all of the constitutional attacks. (R4244-47)

Appellant filed a motion to suppress statements that she made to law enforcement. Appellant also sought to suppress any and all fruits resulting from said statements. (R4248-55)

Following a hearing, the court denied the motion and allowed the evidence at trial over objection. (R1065,2264-3107,4380-83)

On January 10, 1992, the Appellant filed a motion to compel discovery pursuant to <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). (R4530-32) On that same date, Appellant filed a motion for continuance based on two last-minute witness lists filed by the State. (R4535-58)

This case proceeded to a jury trial on January 13, 1992.

<sup>5 §90.404(2)(</sup>b)1, Fla.Stat.; Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959).

(R1-2263) Immediately before jury selection began, the trial court considered Appellant's motion to continue, heard argument, denied the motion, and began jury selection. (R10-28) The trial court denied Appellant's renewed motion for change of venue. (R27-28) The trial court also denied Appellant's request for individual and sequestered voir dire. (R22-23) The court did agree to sever the count charging the Appellant with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R23-28) During jury selection, the trial court denied several of Appellant's cause challenges of several jurors. (R318,359-60,403-4,545-49,567-68,607)

Throughout the trial Appellant alleged numerous discovery violations. (R1187,1193-94,1202,1258,1261-62,1364,1368,1381-90,1605-16) Evidence of collateral crimes and Appellant's confession were admitted over defense objection. (R1138-85, et seq.)

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (R1903-7)

Appellant testified in her defense and the State called one rebuttal witness. (R1913-2106) Appellant requested several modifications in the standard jury instructions and requested two special instructions in writing. Most of these requests were denied. (R2112-32,4589-90) Based on numerous comments during the prosecutor's final summation, Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial. Most of the objections were overruled and the motion for mistrial was denied. (R2167-69, 2172-73,2251-57)

Following deliberations, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged of first-degree murder and armed robbery with a firearm. (R2258,4621-22)

The penalty phase began on January 28, 1992. (R3131-35) The State presented two witnesses, the defense -- three, and two rebuttal witnesses for the State. The trial court denied numerous requests by the Appellant for special jury instructions. (R4631-46) The trial court denied all motions for mistrial that were based on the State's improper final argument. (R3604-9) Following deliberations, the jury returned with an advisory verdict recommending the death sentence (12-0). (R3611-14,4647) The trial court sentenced Appellant to death finding five aggravating circumstances and one mitigating circumstance. (R4663-69) The trial court sentenced Wuornos to ten years imprisonment on the armed robbery. (R4679-82) Appellant's motion for new trial (R4690-95) was denied by the trial court following a hearing. (R4007-24,4699) Appellant filed a notice of appeal on March 5, 1992. (R4705-6) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## Guilt Phase

## A. The Death of Richard Mallory

On December 1, 1989, Deputy John Bonnevier discovered

Richard Mallory's abandoned vehicle in a wooded area in north

Volusia County. (R700-708) A half-empty quart bottle of vodka,

an empty beer bottle, and a wire coat hanger were among the items

strewn about the area. (R723-27,736-40) Two driver's licenses belonging to Mallory were also found at the scene. (R730) On December 13, police found Mallory's body in a wooded area several miles away. (R717,770-71) Mallory was last seen alive in Clearwater on November 30, 1989. (R785-98)

Two bullets that struck Mallory's left lung resulted in hemorrhaging and ultimately death. (R854-64) The medical examiner also found a wound to Mallory's right arm. (R857-60) Dr. Botting removed three bullets from Mallory's body and found a fourth bullet lying free in the body bag. (R857-60,867) bullets were CCI brand .22 caliber, hollow-point, stinger cartridges. (R909-11) They were fired from a weapon (rifle, revolver, or pistol) rifled with six grooves6 with right-hand twist. The firearms expert admitted that this particular style of rifling was popular, with many different weapons and different brands having this same class characteristic. (R911-12,915) Authorities could not determine the assailant's position relative to Mallory when the shots were fired, only that most were inflicted from a distance of less than six feet. (R873-74,921-They also could not determine the sequence of shots or what happened between each shot. (R874) Mallory had definitely been drinking and was probably under the influence at the time of his death. At the time of the autopsy, Mallory's blood alcohol level was .05. (R875)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although the transcript repeatedly refers to "screws," gun enthusiasts say that "grooves" is the appropriate term. The court reporter obviously used phonics, resulting in this error.

Tyria Moore met Aileen Wuornos in a Florida bar. The two became lesbian lovers and had a relationship that lasted approximately four and one-half years. (R933-36) Moore worked sporadically as a hotel maid, while Appellant made most of the money working as a prostitute on Florida's highways. (R935)

Moore generally did not discuss Lee's job or her road trips. (R967-68) Moore knew that Lee's line of work was very dangerous, and that Wuornos carried a gun for protection. (R954,968) Moore knew that Lee had been raped and beaten on more than one occasion and was verbally abused almost every day. (R968-69)

Wuornos drank substantial amounts of alcohol almost every night, sometimes a case of beer each night. (R969-70) When she drank, she would get "kind of moody." (R970) On more than one occasion, Wuornos would go on drinking binges where she would consume a case of beer a day, several days at a time, with only a minimal amount of sleep. (R970)

On the evening of December 1, 1989, Moore and Wuornos were watching television at the Volusia County motel where they were living. Wuornos had returned home after plying her trade for several days on the road. An intoxicated Wuornos told Moore that she had shot and killed a man early that morning. (R937-47,976) She then sorted through the man's property, keeping some, and throwing some items away. (R948-49) Wuornos never explained the circumstances of the shooting. (R947,952) Wuornos explained that she left the body in the woods and abandoned the man's car in Ormond Beach. (R944-47)

Several months later, Moore began seeing media reports indicating that police were looking for two women who were suspects in a series of murders<sup>7</sup>. (R977) Afraid of being arrested, Moore left Wuornos and returned to her home up north in December, 1990. (R977-78) Less than one month later, Florida law enforcement contacted her in Pennsylvania. (R978) attempt to clear herself, Moore agreed to return to Daytona Beach (R978-86) and attempt to extract a confession from Wuornos. accomplishing this goal, Moore exploited their prior relationship and the tremendous love that Wuornos still harbored for Moore. (R971,981-86) During numerous phone calls over several days, Moore, acting as an undercover agent for the police, repeatedly lied to Wuornos, threatened suicide at least once, and constantly exhorted her to take the entire blame for the murders. (R982-86) Wuornos eventually broke down and agreed to confess.

On January 16, 1991, Investigator Lawrence Horzepa of the Volusia County Sheriff's Department took a videotaped statement of Aileen Wuornos at the Volusia County Branch Jail. (R1060-65) Although her alcoholism caused some memory loss (R1124), Wuornos recalled that one evening in early December, 1989, she had been hitchhiking from Tampa on I-4, when Richard Mallory picked her up. They drove to Volusia County where Wuornos offered to perform an act of prostitution. They drove to an isolated area near U.S. 1 and I-95. (R1069-70) Both had been drinking and

Witnesses saw Wuornos and Moore abandon a murder victim's car. (R1493-1501,1511)

Mallory had been smoking marijuana when he parked the car about midnight. (R1070,1108-9) For the next five hours, the couple continued to drink, talk, and enjoy each other's company. (R1070) Wuornos had been drinking all day and was "drunk royal." (R1107)

At approximately 5:00 a.m., the ill-fated act of prostitution commenced. Mallory handed Wuornos some cash and, as was her usual habit to help put the customer at ease, she began to disrobe first. (R1070-71) Mallory remained behind the steering wheel. With Mallory still dressed, the couple began to kiss and hug. Wuornos asked Mallory to get undressed, but Mallory refused. (R1072-73) Mallory wanted to merely unzip his jeans. (R1072) Although she had been accommodating up to that point, Wuornos took issue with Mallory's refusal to remove his jeans. A struggle ensued and Mallory became violent. (R1120) Wuornos, fearful that Mallory was intent on raping and robbing her, grabbed the gun from her nearby purse. Mallory also grabbed her gun and a tug of war began. Wuornos won the struggle and shot Mallory. After being hit with the first shot, Mallory got out of the car and shut the driver's door. Despite her warnings, Mallory kept coming toward her. Wuornos shot. Mallory fell to the ground, and Wuornos shot him two more times. (R1075-76,1121-22) Wuornos told the detective that she killed Mallory in retaliation and that he deserved to die. (R1072-80) She took his property as "final revenge." (R1080)

Wuornos described how she removed Mallory's property, pawned

some items<sup>8</sup>, and abandoned the car off a fire trail. (R1076, 1080-82) Over a year later, Wuornos threw her weapon into the water of Rose Bay just south of the Fairview Motel where she was staying. (R1083) Tyria Moore showed police where to find the gun. (R843-50) The class characteristics of the bullets recovered from Mallory's body matched those of the recovered weapon, as well as many other firearms. (R918-19)

## B. Williams Rule Evidence

Over strenuous defense objection, the State was allowed to present evidence that Aileen Wuornos was accused of numerous other murders, that she allegedly committed <u>after Mallory's</u> death.

Charles Richard Humphreys' fully clothed body was found in Marion County on September 12, 1990. (R1259-60) Humphreys died as a result of multiple gun shot wounds inflicted by six bullets fired at his head and torso. (R1298) Police found Humphreys' car in Suwanee County. (R1193-1201,1233-34)

In June 1990 Peter Siems left Jupiter, Florida heading for New Jersey. (R1523-25) Police found Siems' car in Orange Springs on July 4, 1990. Witnesses had seen two people, subsequently identified as Tyria Moore and Aileen Wuornos, leaving the car. (R1493-1501,1511-14) A palm print found on Siems' driver's interior door handle matched the palm print of

Records from the OK Pawn Shop indicated that Appellant pawned a camera and a radar detector on December 6, 1986. (R813-39) More of Mallory's property was recovered from a storage unit at Jack's Mini-Warehouse used by Wuornos and Moore. (R878-901)

Appellant. (R1318-19,1329-30,1334) Siems' body has never been found. (R4582)

Police found Walter Jeno Antonio's nearly nude body on November 19, 1990, near a remote logging road in Dixie County. Antonio had three bullet wounds in his back and one to the base of his head. (R1575-79) Police found Antonio's car five days later in Brevard County. (R1581)

On August 4, 1990, police found the body of Troy Burress in a wooded area on State Road 19 in Marion County. The body was in advanced stages of decomposition. (R1335-37) Burress had been shot twice. (R1353)

Police found David Spears' body in a very remote area in southwest Citrus County. (R1425,1430) He died of multiple gun shot wounds inflicted by six bullets fired into his torso. (R1298-1305,1365-66) Spears was totally nude except for a baseball cap. (R1425)

Police found the decomposed body of Charles Carskaddon covered with a green, electric blanket in Pasco County. They later found his stripped 1975 Cadillac in a junkyard with the license plate removed. (R1466-68) The chief medical examiner removed nine small caliber bullets from Carskaddon's lower chest and upper abdomen. (R1469-79)

Police retrieved bullets with similar class characteristics from all five of the recovered bodies. (R1368-69,1550-51,1371-72) The State expert admitted that there were numerous weapons

<sup>9</sup> Siems' body was never recovered. (R4582)

with these same class characteristics. Barrels with six grooves and a right-hand twist are relatively common. The expert could not say within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that any of the projectiles had been fired from the gun recovered from Rose Bay. (R1375-76)

## Appellant's Case

Lee Wuornos, 35, was born in Troy, Michigan and found herself living on the streets at a very young age. (R1914) When she was approximately fourteen, she hitchhiked to Florida for the warmer climate. (R1914) At that young age, Wuornos was reduced to working for 75¢ an hour. She began her career as a prostitute at age sixteen. (R1915) She hitchhiked across the country plying her trade for the next four years. She settled in Florida when she was about twenty. (R1915) During the five years before her trial, Wuornos had worked as a prostitute on the interstates. At least four days out of the week, she would hitchhike from exit to exit. She propositioned most of the men who picked her up. If they were not interested, she would get off at the next exit and try again. (R1916-17)

Lee met Tyria Moore at the Zodiac Lounge in Daytona Beach in 1986. They fell deeply in love and began a sexual relationship.

After a year, their relationship became more sisterly and less physical. (R1917)

Lee used alcohol as a tranquilizer while she worked on the road. (R1921) She had been maced, beaten, and raped by violent customers. (R1922-23) She could get no other work, so she kept

working as a prostitute. (R1924) She tried to join the police force and attempted to work as a corrections officer. (R1924) She also repeatedly took the aptitude tests in a vain attempt to join the armed forces. (R1924-25)

Wuornos had been carrying a gun for protection approximately six months, when Mallory picked her up that fateful day. 27) Mallory was mixing vodka and orange juice and drinking heavily on his trip. Mallory was also smoking marijuana. (R1928) He bragged that he owned a video store and asked Wuornos if she knew any women who would be willing to appear in pornographic videos. (R1928) During the trip, Mallory complained bitterly about a woman who was attempting to relieve him of all of his worldly possessions. (R1930) Mallory insisted on parking in a remote area so that he could smoke pot, while he and Wuornos discussed his crumbling love life. (R1931-34) Wuornos' work as a prostitute eventually came up in the conversation. Mallory asked how much she charged. (R1934-35) They drove to an even more secluded spot, Wuornos disrobed, and Mallory went to retrieve a blanket from the trunk. (R1937-38) Mallory refused to undress and announced that he had insufficient funds to pay for her services. Wuornos then began to retrieve her clothes from the back seat in order to get dressed. Before she had a chance to turn back around, Mallory whipped a cord around her neck and commanded her to follow his orders. 40) Mallory threatened to kill Wuornos, "Just like the other sluts I've done." (R1940-41) Mallory tied Lee's hands to the

steering wheel and began violently raping her. (R1941-42)
Mallory alternated between Wuornos' anus and vagina during the
rape. (R1942) Wuornos began to cry loudly in pain which gave
Mallory perverse sexual pleasure. (R1942)

After the brutal rape, Mallory cleaned the blood from his penis with rubbing alcohol. He talked of other diseased "sluts." (R1943-44) After dressing, Mallory squirted rubbing alcohol up Wuornos' torn and bloodied rectum and vagina. (R1945) He then squirted some down her nose and told her that he was saving her eyes for the grand finale. (R1945) Mallory then sat on the hood of his car, smoked some more pot, and listened to a portable radio. (R1945-46) A freezing, nude Wuornos unsuccessfully attempted to free herself from the restraints. (R1946)

After about one hour, Mallory got back into the car and untied her. He put a wire around her neck, using it like a leash. Mallory told Wuornos to lie down and spread her legs. Believing that he would eventually kill her, Wuornos began to struggle. Mallory enjoyed the physical confrontation until Wuornos spit in his face, at which point, Mallory proclaimed, "You're dead bitch. You're dead." (R1946-49) As Mallory came toward her in earnest, Wuornos finally found her purse, grabbed her pistol, and shot twice quickly. (R1949) Mallory kept coming at her and she shot again. (R1949) Wuornos got out of the car and ran around to the driver's door. When Mallory started to get out of the car, Wuornos warned him a final time. (R1950) Mallory kept coming. Wuornos shot him again and Mallory fell

dead to the ground. (R1950)

## Penalty Phase

Lee Wuornos had a prior conviction for robbery with a deadly weapon. (R3151-54) The chain of events leading to Appellant's prior, violent, felony<sup>10</sup> conviction began when she had a fight with her boyfriend, who had rejected her. She had been drinking and taking drugs, when she decided to commit suicide in an attempt to get the attention of her boyfriend. (R3336-37,3499) After consuming a case of beer, a half-pint of liquor, and four librium, Lee, wearing a G-string bikini, headed to the beach. She stopped at a convenience store and placed her purse on the counter. Although she had no prior intent to rob the store, the clerk saw the gun in her purse and became frightened. (R3337-38) Realizing this would be a good method to get attention, Lee robbed the clerk at gunpoint and was apprehended shortly thereafter. (R3338)

Drs. McMahon, Krop, and Toomer were all qualified as experts without objection. All three conducted in-depth examinations of Wuornos and reviewed voluminous documentation of her life, her case, and material and tests from other doctors who examined her. (R3173-87,3309-17,3406-11) All three psychologists' primary diagnosis was that Lee suffered from a borderline personality disorder. (R3192-94,3317-19,3411,3426-27) All three agreed that she was suffering from this particular disorder at the time of the crime, as she had throughout her life. All three classified

S 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat.

the disorder as an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (R3222,3319-22,3403-4,3426-27) All three agreed that, at the time of the crime, Lee's capacity to conform her conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. (R3217-21,3403,3425-26) All three found some evidence of brain damage. (R3192-94,3204-7,3216-17,3347,3395,3411,3423)

Dr. Krop described Wuornos' borderline personality disorder as, so classic that it essentially dominated her functioning.

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