IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

AILEEN CAROL WUORNOS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,484

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

the radio. He indicated only that he had a real sick feeling for the person, whoever it was that committed the crime (R 604). He indicated that the fact that Wuornos was a prostitute would not prevent him from being fair and impartial (R 605). He had no personal beliefs against the use of alcohol. It is clear that there was no basis to challenge Juror Degayner for cause. Mr. Pundit had not been exposed to media coverage other than flashes on the news. Nothing came into his mind as to detail. He indicated that he would weigh the facts as he heard from the witness stand and any evidence that was admitted. He agreed that a prostitute as opposed to any other person has a right to defend herself (R 541). He recognized his job as a judge of the facts in the guilt or innocence phase (R 542). He had no opinion for or against the death penalty (R 543). He indicated that he would weigh the facts of the case and apply the law that Judge Blount gave him. He indicated that if he were selected to serve as a juror he could give his time and attention to the testimony that came before him and the instruction of the law to be given to him by the court and arrive at a verdict (R 547). It is also clear that there was no valid challenge for cause as to this juror. Refusal of the motion for change of venue, sought on the ground of adverse publicity does not constitute reversible error where there was no showing that the defendant was prejudiced to the extent that a fair trial was impossible under the circumstances. McClendon v. State, 196 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1967).

V THE JURY'S PENALTY PHASE VERDICT WAS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY TAINTED AS A RESULT OF IMPROPER INSTRUCTIONS, EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT.

The penalty phase in this case took place on January 28th through January 31, 1992 (R 3501). Counsel and the court did not have the benefit of this court's opinion in Castro v. State, 597 So. 2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992). The trial court, therefore, instructed the jury on the pecuniary gain circumstance and the felony murder factor with robbery as the stated felony (R 3596), without a limiting instruction and over the objection of defense counsel (R 3540, 3542-43, 4641). The trial court did not find both aggravators in its sentencing order, however. It found that Wuornos was engaged in the commission of a robbery at the time of the murder and in accordance with Provence v. State, 337 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1976), merged or subsumed the pecuniary gain factor with the felony murder factor to avoid any prohibited doubling. In its opinion this court did not indicate that the Castro decision was to apply retrospectively. Appellee would submit it is not a fundamental change of the law requiring retroactive application. It is a mere evolutionary refinement. See, Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). The Castro decision did not overrule but merely "clarified" the holding in Suarez v. State, 481 So. 2d 1201, 1209 (Fla. 1985), which held that it was not reversible error when the jury was instructed on both factors as long as the trial court did not give the factors double weight in its sentencing order, by indicating that where a limiting instruction is requested or objection made the jury should be told that should it find both

aggravating factors present, it must consider the two factors as one. 597 So. 2d at 261. The jury's verdict is not tainted, in any event. Pursuant to Sochor v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2122 (1992), jury error cannot be presumed because of instructions on two different legal theories only one of which was supported by the evidence. In this case they are actually both supported by the evidence. A pecuniary gain motive is essential to a robbery. The same facts support both factors. The weighing process is not a numerical tabulation. The jury, thus, considered nothing inappropriate. If we cannot know what the jury relied on because it does not reveal the aggravating factors on which it relies we cannot know what weight it accorded any factor. We cannot presume error. Especially where pecuniary gain is a constituent part of the murder during the course of a robbery factor. Separate consideration wouldn't result in double weighing because pecuniary gain provides only a *motive* for the robbery-murder. This is not reversible error.

As argued elsewhere herein, the evidence does support an instruction on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor. This court has previously rejected the claim that the instructions on the cold, calculated and premeditated factor are vague. Smith v. Dugger, 565 So. 2d 1293, 1295 n. 3 (Fla. 1990); Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1990). The instruction offered by appellant is not accurate as a matter of law. There does not need to be a "series" of events before the cold, calculated and premeditated factor can be found. The last paragraph would not even serve to appropriately apprise the jury

that what is required is "heightened" premeditation pursuant to Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987). Assuming that there was error, it was harmless. The CCP factor was properly found by the trial judge based on the facts of this case. With or without this aggravating factor this case will withstand а proportionality analysis. The jury cannot have gone too far afield when the result reached in this case will be similar to similarly situated cases. The death sentence may also be affirmed when an aggravating circumstance is eliminated if the court is convinced that such elimination would not have resulted in a life sentence. Hamblen v. Dugger, 546 So. 2d 1039 (Fla. 1989). Espinosa v. Florida, 112 So. 2d 2926 (1992), hardly mandates vacation of the death sentence. Espinosa is often invoked for the proposition that any error cannot be cured. Espinosa does not stand for such a proposition. In Espinosa, this court responded to a vagueness challenge with what amounted to a demurrer by citing Smalley v. State, 546 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1989) for the proposition that any error can be cured by the trial judge, the final sentencer. Espinosa v. State, 598 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 1991). This court did not address the propriety of the instruction. Espinosa determined only that neither the jury nor the judge must be permitted to weigh invalid aggravating circumstances. 112 S.Ct. at 2928. Espinosa and subsequent cases were remanded to this court for further proceedings. Espinosa does not preclude this court from performing a harmless error analysis and determining that an aggravating factor was properly found pursuant to the narrowing case law of this court even if the jury

may have considered the factor for the wrong reason. This result was reached by the court most recently in Hodges v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S255 (Fla. April 15, 1993). Espinosa also does not preclude consideration by this court of remaining aggravating factors, after striking the infirm factor, and determining that the death sentence is still appropriate considering also the mitigating circumstances present. The prosecutor merelv indicated in closing argument that premeditation had been established in the verdict (R 3568). The prosecutor did not state that any type of "heightened" premeditation had been established by the verdict or that the jury should go ahead and find this factor based on their verdict. In any event, what the prosecutor says is not the law and the court properly instructed the jury that the arguments of counsel are not to be considered as evidence or instructions on the law (R 3563). Regardless of what the prosecutor said, CCP is applicable and any misstatement is harmless error.

Appellee has argued elsewhere herein that the aggravating factor that the crime was committed during the commission of a robbery was appropriately found as well as the avoiding arrest/witness elimination aggravating circumstance. Thus, these instructions were properly given and such instructions are understandable by any man of reasonable understanding and mental acuity. The heinous, atrocious and cruel instruction as given has been approved by the United States Supreme Court in *Proffitt v. Florida*, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). The language that "the kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious or cruel is one accompanied by additional acts that show that the crime was conscienceless or pitiless and was unnecessarily torturous to the victim," is quite obviously instructional in nature and it matters little whether the instruction is by "example" or direct statement as such language is still directorial. Such argument is totally without merit.

This case hardly falls within the ambit of Wike v. State, 596 So. 2d 1020, 1025 (Fla. 1992). In Wike, the prosecutor emphasized the defendant's lack of remorse to the jury in closing argument. That did not occur in this case by virtue of the complained of statement that "He [Dr. Krop] went to say that he would not find her antisocial perhaps because she displayed a conscience and then I cross-examined him on that issue." (R 3573). The prosecution had every right to present evidence and argument that Wuornos was a sociopath or had an antisocial personality disorder as opposed to having a borderline personality disorder. Such distinction is vital in determining the applicability of the statutory mental health mitigators. By definition a sociopath or one with an antisocial personality disorder is one without a Such person would be unlikely to act under an conscience. extreme emotional disturbance and while capable of conforming his/her conduct to the requirements of law is not interested in so doing. Wuornos chose to put her mental condition in issue and the state has every right to present evidence of a differing That such diagnosis may not do much for Wuornos is diagnosis. not a proper consideration. Eliciting testimony concerning the aspects of a mental illness is not the equivalent of blatantly

arguing lack of remorse. This evidence was volunteered by Dr. Toomer, the defense expert, in the first instance. He indicated that an individual suffering from an antisocial personality disorder is often referred to as being without a conscience, which would not apply to Wuornos since she exhibited remorse (R 3443). Even in the event that this court could equate such with arguing lack of remorse or find that there was some type of overkill the state would submit that there is absolutely no way the jury would not have discerned that Wuornos was totally without remorse in view of her own confessions in the guilt stage but there is no evidence it was considered in aggravation, and any error, therefore, is harmless under *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Appellee would note that this next issue is somewhat moot. Since the time of the sentencing phase Wuornos has entered guilty pleas for other murders and such appeals are now before this court. Should she be resentenced such other crimes can certainly be considered again. See Preston v. State, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990); Stewart v. State, 558 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1990). Prior to the colloquy in question the prosecutor had asked Dr. Toomer if he was aware of Wuornos' statement that the men deserved to die because they were cheating on their families without objection. Also without objection the prosecutor asked Dr. Toomer if he was aware that Wuornos had told numerous stories with regard to each killing (R 3447). While defense counsel objected to mention of the shooting of Mr. Carskaddon on the basis that such evidence was beyond the scope of the physical hearing (R 3449) after the

- 52 -

prosecutor brought out the details of the various stories Ms. Wuornos had given concerning the murder of Carskaddon defense counsel only objected to such evidence as being argumentative and not a question. He specifically moved for a *mistrial* on the basis that the information brought out was contained in a compound question (R 3451). Defense counsel previously sat silent as this same information was elicited from Dr. McMahon before (R 3257-3258). Appellee would submit that this issue is waived for lack of contemporaneous objection and request for a mistrial on proper arounds. The contemporaneous objection rule has been held by this court to apply to evidence about other crimes and the failure to object properly at the time such evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review. Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988). Appellee would also note that nowhere was it argued that such question elicited nonstatutory aggravation. In any event, the collateral crime evidence was properly admitted in the guilt phase and heard by the jury. The question put to the doctor concerned variations on Wuornos' stories of the death of Carskaddon. The question was designed to determine the basis for the doctor's diagnosis since he did not know the facts of the Mallory murder, did not verify Wuornos' self reporting, and refused to acknowledge that the varying stories told by Wuornos were lies (R 3445-3451). Even if such information was improperly before the jury, such error is harmless. If the jury wanted to find nonstatutory aggravation they could have done it on the basis of the similar fact evidence in the guilt phase alone. This further evidence reflected only

- 53 -

that Wuornos lied, something the jury was already aware of from her testimony from the stand in the guilt phase. The sentencing order did not reflect the presence of any nonstatutory aggravation (R 4663-4678).

Appellant fails to point out that the jury was instructed that the lawyer's evidence is not the law (R 3563). The prosecutor also advised the jury their recommendation carries "great weight" as the judge did ultimately (R 3565; 3595). The instruction went beyond the jury instruction upheld in *Harich v. Dugger*, 844 F.2d 1464, 1475 n.16 (11th Cir. 1988).

As previously argued the jury was instructed on standards and aggravating factors and advised that what the prosecutor said is not law. Any complaint regarding the prosecutor's comments is waived in any event. Prior to closing argument, at the suggestion of the defense a stipulation was entered into whereby counsel agreed not to interrupt each other's closing arguments and to make objections at the conclusion (R 3560). No objection was raised at the end of argument (R 3594). After the jury instructions were given the court specifically asked counsel if there was any request for additional instructions or any matters to bring to the court's attention. Defense counsel relied on previous objections and had no further argument. Defense counsel then suggested a break (R 3600). Forty-five minutes after the jury retired and the alternates were discharged counsel finally made objections (R 3599; 3601; 3603; 3607). Appellee would submit that by setting up this scenario and by not asking for curative instructions at the time the court asked about improper

- 54 -

instructions or prosecutorial comments the defense waived any right to complain of these matters. It was a little late to ask for curative instructions. Evidently the defense tactic was to have wide open argument, benefit from such deal themselves then complain when it was too late to do anything about it and put themselves immediately in a mistrial posture. They should be held to their deal. In view of the facts heard by the jury in Wuornos' confession and in the penalty phase and their 12-0 vote the prosecutor hardly had to unfairly exhort them to recommend the death penalty and any error is harmless. Contrary to appellant's assertion it was Wuornos' counsel who was and is confused about mental health mitigation. Knowing right from wrong is clearly relevant to the statutory mental health mitigators. See, Gore v. State, 599 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 1992); Ponticelli v. State, 593 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 1992).

As in point VIII herein appellant does not bother to argue the propriety of requested and rejected instructions and such complaints are waived. VI THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED A SENTENCE OF DEATH BASED ON APPROPRIATE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES AND WEAK MITIGATION.

## A. <u>THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CRIME WAS</u> <u>COMMITTED DURING THE COMMISSION OF A ROBBERY</u>.

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